
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Wednesday, 12 October 2022 
 
 

CABINET 
will meet on 

Thursday, 20 October 2022 
beginning at 

6:30 pm 
in the 

Reception, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 
 
TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair) 
 Councillor Ian Corben (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Paul Bicknell 
Councillor Tonia Craig 
Councillor Tim Groves 
 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
 

Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 

  
 
 

 
 

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 21 September 2022. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 
You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following email 
address: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
12pm on Wednesday 19 October 2022. 
 
We are still encouraging all those in attendance to take a lateral flow test before 
attending the meeting.  We would be grateful if you could let us know if you plan 
to attend on the above email address. PLEASE DO NOT ATTEND IF YOU HAVE 
ANY COVID-19 SYMPTOMS. 
 

5.   Recommendations from Committees  
 

6.   Medium-Term Financial Plan (Pages 9 - 20) 
 

7.   Strategic Land in Bishopstoke (Pages 21 - 36) 
 

8.   Domestic Waste and Recycling (Pages 37 - 54) 
 

9.   Corporate Service Performance (Pages 55 - 64) 
 

10.   Exempt Business  
 
To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 in respect of the following item(s) of business on the grounds that it 
is/they are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.  
  
The Schedule 12A categories have been amended and are now subject to the 
public interest test, in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  This 
came into effect on 1st March 2006. 
  
It is considered that the following items are exempt from disclosure and that the 
public interest in not disclosing the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 

 EXEMPT ITEM(S)  
 

11.   Property Transaction (Pages 65 - 78) 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk


 

 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 8 December 2022 at 6:30 pm 

In the Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

CABINET 
 

Wednesday, 21 September 2022  (6:30 pm – 6:37 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Corben, Craig, Groves and Kyrle 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bicknell and Pretty 
 

________________________________________ 
 

131. CHAIR'S STATEMENT 
 
The Leader announced that Eastleigh Borough Council had been named 
Council of the Year in the 2022 Association for Public Service Excellence 
(APSE) Awards. The Council also won the award for Best Service Team: 
Transport and Fleet Maintenance and were finalists in four other 
categories. The Leader thanked all staff across the Council for their 
continued hard work and dedication. A number of events will be organised 
over the coming weeks to recognise the hard work of the teams involved.  
 
The Leader expressed the importance of raising awareness of assisting 
Ukrainian refugees, as the initial six month hosting for families is coming 
to an end which is leaving some families homeless. The Leader is aware 
that there are volunteers within the community that are willing to help. The 
Council is going to raise awareness amongst the community.  
 
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION) 
 

132. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES 
 
There were no recommendations from Committees on this occasion.  
 

133. APPROVAL OF NEW BODY WORN VIDEO POLICY 
 
Issue 
 
The Corporate Policy and Procedure for the use of Body Worn Video 
Devices (BWV Policy) facilitates the Council’s use of BWV in carrying out 
its duties. The policy sets out the statutory framework and procedures that 
permit the Council’s lawful use of this overt surveillance technique, whilst 
ensuring the Council complies with all relevant legislation and does not 
infringe a person’s rights under Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998 
(HRA), except as may be permitted by Article 8(2). (Paper 5) 
 
Consideration 
 
The use of BWV will help Council staff carry out a number of duties that 
contribute to the Council meeting its Corporate Plan objectives.  

5

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approves the adoption of the ‘Corporate Policy and 
Procedures for the use of Body Worn Video Devices’, which sets out 
the statutory framework and procedures which permit the Council’s 
lawful use of this overt surveillance technique to assist staff in 
carrying out their duties. 
 

134. CORPORATE KPI REVIEW 2022/23 
 
Issue 
 
The aim of the Corporate KPI review is to enable reporting against a suite 
of indicators that, with narrative, collectively provide a good overview of 
the Council’s performance. The review also aims to provide organisational 
alignment in ensuring that the achievement of overall ambitions and the 
delivery of core services is monitored. (Paper 6) 
 
Consideration  
 
The report proposes amendments to the Corporate Key Performance 
Indicator listing for 2022/23 in line with the ambitions of the Council and to 
achieve more effective management of performance. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1) Approves the proposed changes to the Corporate Key 
Performance Indicators for 2022/23 at Appendix 1; and 

(2)  Considers and approves recommendations arising from 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel on 14 July 2022. 

 
135. VEHICLE AND PLANT REPLACEMENT REPORT 

 
Issue 
 
The current fleet comprises 95 vehicles and more than 70 other pieces of 
equipment. These assets are vital for delivering high-profile statutory and 
income-generating services mainly within the Neighbourhood Services 
Executive Area. (Paper 7) 
 
Consideration  
 
The automotive industry is facing considerable challenges due to the 
backlog caused by Covid shutdowns and a shortage of electrical 
components required for all new vehicles. Lead times for new vehicles are 
now commonly 9 to 12 months after an order is placed; for that reason, 
the proposed programme will cover two financial years. This will also allow 

6



3 
 

for changes that may be required for the Environment Act and Hampshire 
County Councils changes to waste disposal infrastructure. In order to 
meet service demands the replacement programme includes the purchase 
of second-hand/ex-demonstration vehicles as the delivery time is much 
shorter (weeks). 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 
(1)  approves the Vehicle and Plant Replacement Programme 

detailed in Appendix 1, totalling £1,321,550, increasing the capital 
budget by £535,050 for financial year 2022/23 and £786,500 
2023/24; and 

(2) the Corporate Director (CFO) and the Executive Head of 
Neighbourhood Services be given delegated authority to modify 
the replacement programme and for items to be amended in view 
of the current market volatility, within the financial approval 
limits given. 

 
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

136. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.  
 

137. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2022 be agreed as a 
correct record. 
 
M7037 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

20 October 2022 

UPDATED MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

Report of the Chief Financial Officer 

 

Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet note the Council’s revised Medium-Term Financial 
Plan as shown in Appendix A. 

 

Summary 
 
This report considers the effect on Eastleigh Borough Council’s Medium-Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) of the economic impacts currently being felt both nationally and, to some 
extent, internationally.  The significant additional financial pressures necessitate the need 
to drive forward a more ambitious continuous improvement plan which will be developed 
over the coming months, with additional savings necessary from 2023/24 onwards. 
 
 

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989,  Section 151 Local Government Act 1972, Local 
Government Act 2003 (Part 2- Financial Administration), Local Government Finance Act 
1992 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Regular review of the Council’s financial position is key to ensuring delivery 
against strategic objectives set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-2025, 
delivery of actions in the Corporate Action Plan 22/23, and contributes to the 
management of corporate risk.  

 

Introduction 

2. The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan forecasts the Council’s budgetary 
position over the coming years to enable effective and sustainable service 
planning.  This Plan is regularly reviewed to determine the impact of service 
changes, Council decisions and also the national picture.  In recent years, by 
prudently planning the Council’s operations, the Budget has been well 

9

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

managed with external impacts being absorbed whilst maintaining service 
provision and therefore a formal annual review of the Plan has been sufficient. 

3. The recent COVID-19 pandemic placed additional pressure on the Council as 
national restrictions led to falling income, most significantly with losses from 
parking fees and income from cultural venues, alongside additional resource 
and financial burdens incurred whilst supporting Eastleigh’s residential and 
business communities.  Although effects are still being felt from the pandemic, 
the forecast impacts had been built into the Medium-Term financial plan and 
recovery has been in line with expectations. 

4. In more recent months, the international economic picture has worsened as a 
result of the conflict in Ukraine, and this has driven up inflationary pressures, 
particularly for utility costs.  This has led to a national “cost of living crisis”.  
These inflationary pressures have also been seen with pressure on pay 
inflation which has been modelled through the Medium-Term Financial Plan 
and leads to the need to develop a more extensive continuous improvement 
plan which must be implemented sooner than previously envisaged. 

5. With changes in policy direction from central government in the last few 
weeks, the Council is now also modelling the impact of interest rate increases 
which will be in excess of that forecast by the market when the budget was set 
in February 2022.  This is a fast-moving picture, and the revised Plan 
incorporates a prudent approach, whilst recognising that regular updates to 
Cabinet will be important as the economic situation changes. 

6. This report looks at the cumulative effect on Eastleigh Borough Council of the 
economic changes being felt both nationally and to some extent 
internationally.  The conclusion is the need to drive forward a more ambitious 
continuous improvement plan which will be developed over the coming 
months with significant savings necessary from 2023/24 onwards. 

National and International Economic Context 

7. Since the budget for 2022/23 was approved by Council in February 2022, 
there has been a period of prolonged, higher than anticipated inflation, 
currently with the Consumer Price Index (CPI) standing at an annual rate of 
9.9% as at September 2022 and forecast to exceed 10%, against a Bank of 
England target of 2%. 

8. Inflationary pressures, with recruitment and import delay challenges, have 
been exacerbated by increases in wholesale gas prices across Europe, 
arising from the Russian/Ukrainian conflict.  These have led to increases in 
retail energy prices this year and these are forecast to continue to rise 
throughout the remainder of this year and into the future.  Rising inflation is 
causing a “Cost of Living Crisis” as inflation, especially around energy bills, is 
likely to lead to a fall in real incomes for both households and businesses in 
the Borough, as increases in costs outweigh increases in earnings/income.  
The implications of such high inflation on the Council are significant as costs 
are increasing, both in terms of materials and services procured, and most 

10



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

significantly forecast pay inflation, with income not increasing at the same 
pace. 

9. One of the most utilised policies for the Bank of England to try to reduce 
inflation and support sterling is to increase the Bank Rate.  Rate increases 
seen to date have increased interest costs paid by the Council to a higher 
level than estimated when the Budget was set in February 2022.  However, 
the revised forecasts, as the bank rate has increased throughout the year, 
were within parameters previously modelled and by utilising the interest rate 
reserve, as intended, the additional interest rate pressures were manageable. 

10. In recent weeks increased market volatility has been experienced following 
the Chancellor’s “mini budget”, which was poorly received by markets.  This 
volatility led to the Bank of England announcing the need to step in with 
temporary purchases of government bonds.  The impacts of the mini budget 
and the subsequent changes in government policy make forecasting difficult 
as the economic landscape is constantly moving.  The Council continues to 
forecast prudently, and this report relies on latest economic predictions from 
treasury advisors, Arlingclose, to construct the revised Medium-Term 
Financial Plan.   

11. All the above impacts are increasing cost pressures on the Council, against a 
relatively static core spending power for the Council, i.e., the funds received to 
administer services. With current inflation levels, the capped council tax 
increase means a real-terms reduction in funding of 6.7%. 

Service Inflationary Pressures 

12. Increases to fuel and energy, where prices are variable, have the most 
immediate impact to the Council despite the announced public sector price 
cap. Electricity costs have risen by 130% and gas by 176%. As these cost 
increases build into supply chains, prices for many more goods and services 
will increase and further inflationary pressures on the Council will continue to 
arise as contracts come up for renewal. The revised Plan attached at 
Appendix A now includes an inflationary provision of £200,000 per annum to 
counteract this pressure. 

13. Staffing costs within the Council total £22M annually which represents 30% of 
gross revenue expenditure.  As part of the local government national pay 
negotiations for 2022, National Employers have made a pay offer of £1,925 
per employee (pro rata) which averages an increase of 7.33%. This increase 
is significantly more than the provision for a 2% increase which was included 
within the budget approved in February.  The revised Medium-Term Financial 
Plan incorporates the impact of this offer which is calculated at an additional 
£1.1M per annum above the budgeted increase from 2022/23.  With inflation 
expected to remain high, the risk of a further pressure in future years has led 
to a revised increase from 2% to 4% for 2023/24. The cumulative impact of 
pay inflation over the life of the Medium-Term Financial Plan is £15M.  

14. The ‘Cost of Living Crisis’ is pushing more residents into poverty, and the 
pressure on welfare services for the most vulnerable is greater than ever. All 

11



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

homelessness prevention, housing and community development services are 
already seeing higher demand and a greater complexity of cases which 
creates additional resource pressures for the Council.  This is expected to 
worsen as increasing interest rates cause mortgages to become unaffordable 
for some.   

15. The Council is already experiencing pockets of other inflationary pressures, 
particularly for construction, food, and transport. Business cases for projects, 
as well as service plans for income generating services are being reviewed to 
ensure they remain viable and will be considered during the annual planning 
process for 2023/24 to allocate sufficient budget provision. 

Impact on Borrowing Costs 

16. When the Budget was set for the 2022/23 financial year in February 2022, 
interest rates were forecast to average 0.50% for the financial year in line with 
projections from the Council’s treasury advisors, Arlingclose.  Throughout the 
year, interest rate forecasts have been updated and have increased with the 
view that inflation needed to be dampened by the Bank of England’s Monetary 
Policy Committee. With subsequent changes in the national economic picture 
and interest rate rises, the average forecast rate incurred by the Council on 
variable rate borrowing has risen to 2.69% for the 2022/23 financial year. 

17. This financial year there have already been four separate increases in the 
Base Rate in May, June, August and September, increasing the rate from 
0.75% to 2.25%.  Further increases are forecast to occur in November and 
December, with a further likely interest rate increase early in the new calendar 
year. 

18. As Cabinet are aware, the Council has built an interest reserve over several 
years to mitigate unforeseen increases in interest rates.  As rates increased 
during 2022/23 the interest rate reserve was then called upon to balance out 
increase in costs as planned.  The reserve remained sufficient to cope with 
rises as forecast as interest rates were predicted to be maintained at a level 
lower than the Council’s long-term interest rate of 3%. 

19. On 23 September, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced the “mini 
budget” in Parliament.  The national picture then changed with the negative 
market reaction to the announced plans and an immediate fall in the value of 
sterling.  This fiscal event triggered significant uncertainty for the economic 
landscape with immediate reactions such as the withdrawal of mortgage 
products and the Bank of England’s purchase of government bonds leading to 
revised pessimistic interest rates forecasts over the short to Medium-Term as 
can be seen in the table and graph below. 

Forecast interest rates for Eastleigh Borough Council  

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

Feb 22 (Budget) 0.50% 0.50% 0.56% 1.00% 1.50% 

Aug-22 1.98% 2.50% 1.79% 2.00% 2.50% 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Sep-22 2.69% 5.00% 4.88% 3.42% 3.00% 

 

Graphical representation of Forecast interest rates for Eastleigh Borough 
Council 

 

20. Since receiving the most recent interest rate forecast information from 
Arlingclose, the economic situation has changed again.  The Government has 
changed its policy position on tax cuts which has lessened the negative 
impact on the markets.  Furthermore, the Chancellor has now announced that 
he will bring forward the publication of his medium-term fiscal plan from 23rd 
November to later in October.  This may help to stabilise the national 
economy which will then have an impact on the Bank of England interest rate 
deliberations, with a possibility now that rates will not rise as quickly or to such 
a high level.  However, it remains prudent to compile the MTFP based on 
pessimistic forecasts until there is more certainty. 

21. Whilst the Council is protected against interest rate movements on most of its 
borrowing portfolio due to the fixed-rate borrowing taken out over the previous 
five years, there is still 33% of the Council’s borrowing (£176M) that is 
borrowed on a short-term basis, which is affected by the forecast increase to 
Bank Rate.  

22. The Council has always been aware of the risk should the Bank of England 
Base Rate to rise above forecast levels, interest costs for the Council would 
also rise.  To mitigate the risk a prudent approach was taken to set up an 
interest reserve.  This stood at £11.9M at the end of 2021/22. 

23. For 2022/23 the forecast interest rate of 5% by the end of the financial year, 
which exceeds budgetary forecast, will lead to an increase in interest payable 
of £2.877M, offset by an increase in interest receivable of £486,000.  This 
additional pressure will need to be funded from the interest reserve.  For the 

0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%

4.00%

5.00%

6.00%

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

Avg. Annual Interest Rate Forecast Sep 22 

Feb 22 (Budget) Aug-22 Sep-22

13



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

2023/24 financial year it is currently forecast interest costs could rise by a 
further £7.2m, leading to a further draw on the Council’s reserves.   

Revised Medium-Term Financial Plan 

24. The Medium-Term Financial Plan draws together estimates of expenditure 
and income streams for the Council.  The consolidation of all financial 
information allows the Council to identify either a surplus or a deficit operating 
position for each year.  Any surplus is appropriated into reserves and if a 
deficit is forecast, a savings target is identified which will ensure the Council 
can operate within the funds available.  A summary of the MTFP is tabled 
below with a more detailed analysis being included at Appendix A. 

25. Where there are unanticipated pressures, such as the Council is experiencing 
currently, alongside the formulation of an efficiency strategy there is the ability 
to use reserves to enable enough time for efficiency plans to come to fruition.  
Within the revised MTFP, uncommitted New Homes Bonus and a small 
number of reserves have been allocated over a number of years to ensure 
plans can be introduced in a measured and calculated way.  This planned 
delivery of savings is vital to ensure the long-term financial viability of the 
Council.  It is worth noting that the Council’s decision to retain New Homes 
Bonus funding to enable capital projects in the past has enabled 
improvements throughout the Borough that would otherwise not have been 
achievable.  The intention is to take advantage of the funding to help to 
balance the budget in the short term, with the aim of replenishing the fund in 
the future when possible. 

26. As part of the efficiency plans, there will be a need to transform some services 
and improve the way we work to take advantage of efficiencies wherever 
possible.  Where it can be demonstrated that costs are being incurred to 
enable more efficient working and transformation, then the Government allows 
the flexible use of capital receipts.  In order to apply for this ability to use 
capital receipts to offset revenue costs, the plan needs to be submitted to 
Government once it has been approved by Council.  A report will be taken to 
Council for approval alongside the Budget report in February 2023 to enable 
the direction to be received.  

27. Assumptions included within the previous Medium-Term Financial Plan have 
been challenged to ensure they are still applicable.  This has included the 
increase in pay inflation for future years and also the slipping of the negative 
impact of the rebasing of Non-Domestic Rates to 2024/25.  It is assumed that 
the policy on setting Council Tax at 1% below inflation will remain, although 
with inflation running at nearly 10% this will be at the capped level of 1.99%. 

28. Early estimates of financial pressures included within the MTFP for 2023/24 
are detailed in the table below.  Staffing pressure, inflation and other service 
pressures will become ingrained in future years budgets, and therefore have a 
cumulative impact on the MTFP, hence the need for urgent action as part of 
the Continuous Improvement Programme and ongoing scrutiny by service 
managers and Executive Heads to identify potential efficiencies within current 
budgets. 

14



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Pressure Initial 2023/24 Impact 

Staffing £2.4M 

Inflation £1M 

Other Service Pressures  £1M 

Total £4.4M 

 

Corporate Continuous Improvement 

29. The Budget approved by Cabinet in February 2022 included an ongoing 
corporate continuous improvement target totalling £3.5M by 2026/27. 
Considering the estimated impact of all known and forecast economic events, 
the continuous improvement target needs to increase to ensure that the 
Council can continue to maintain a balanced budget into the future whilst still 
providing services to the community.  The revised cumulative savings targets 
are estimated within the table below: 

 2022/23 
£000 

2023/24 
£000 

2024/25 
£000 

2025/26 
£000 

2026/27 
£000 

Original target 500 1,500 2,500 3,000 3,500 

Revised target 500 3,500 5,000 8,650 8,650 

 
30. The scale of this increase necessitates a more transformative approach in the 

short term.  The Executive Team have already begun formulating a plan in 
consultation with Portfolio Leads to address the upcoming financial 
challenges.  The plans need to be fully costed and all impacts understood 
before they can be fully quantified and either implemented or brought to 
Cabinet for approval as appropriate.  Initial estimates suggest that the savings 
targets will be achieved for 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25. 

31. Initial discussions with Portfolio Leads and senior management have identified 
the following potential ongoing savings to help achieve the 2023/24 
requirement. 

Corporate Continuous Improvement Type 2023/24 Identified Saving 

Spending Money Wisely £374,000 

Income Generation £413,000 

Organisational Transformation £2,577,000 

Total Saving £3,364,000 

 

15



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

32. These savings are now being fully explored and costed ahead of 
implementation and will be brought forward for formal approval to Council 
alongside the Budget in February 2023. 

33. Delivery of this programme is vital to ensure the Council can continue to 
deliver a balanced Budget.  Cabinet will need to consider the prioritisation of 
services to meet the challenges ahead.  To ensure the continuous 
improvement plan is delivered effectively, the projects will be sponsored by 
the Chief Executive and progress will be reported regularly to Cabinet.  The 
programme will involve all Executive Heads and they may be allocating 
service leads to project manage individual projects affecting their areas.  The 
Programme Board, sponsored by the Chief Executive, will include 
representatives from Finance, HR and Communications teams as regular 
attendees.  

34. An all-staff briefing was held on Thursday 6 October to apprise staff of the 
financial challenges that the Council now faces, against the background of this 
rapidly evolving national and international landscape. This has prompted initial 
feedback from the Trade Unions, on behalf of their members. It is worthwhile 
stating that the Council’s relationships with the unions are exceptionally 
positive and have been nurtured over many years based on trust and 
openness. 

35. In summary, the unions understand the need for robust action and would like 
the Council to commit to protecting staff as far as possible, with other potential 
savings and income opportunities being explored first. Whilst there is an 
understanding of the need for a reduction in headcount, protecting staff is the 
overriding priority. In pursuit of this, the Council’s policy of consultation with 
staff and unions will be undertaken as a matter of course, prior to and formal 
reduction in staff numbers or services.  

36. Reference was made to staff morale during this challenging time and to this 
end, there is a clear expectation that any reduction in headcount will be 
reflected in a commensurate reduction in the workload for remaining 
staff.  The aim of the efficiencies programme will be to balance workload with 
resources, and this will achieve the joint aims of both the unions and the 
Council.  

Risk Assessment 

37. The Medium-Term Financial Plan is brought together considering all known 
and potential financial risks the Council may face over the next few years.  
The Plan is integral to the risk management process in respect of the 
Council’s finances.  The Medium-Term Financial Plan is constructed on a 
prudent basis in order to ensure that budgeting is realistic, and plans are 
affordable.  There remain risks around the national economic picture, primarily 
around inflation and interest rates, however the assumptions contained within 
the Plan are based on prudent estimates in conjunction with independent 
advisors. 
 

16



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

38. The savings targets included within this Plan, as detailed within paragraph 29 
of this report, must be achieved in order for the Council to maintain financial 
stability into the future.  The is a risk that the forecast savings and additional 
income will not be realised.  This will be mitigated by the creation of the 
Programme Board (detailed in paragraph 33) with regular reporting and 
management of delivery. 
 

39. The regular reporting to Cabinet of impacts to the Council’s finances, both 
positive and negative, along with revisions to the Medium-Term Financial Plan 
where appropriate, will ensure that action can be taken as necessary to deal 
with any necessary implications.   
 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

40. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because the 
decision does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. Therefore, it 
is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

41. There is no direct impact, positive or negative, to climate change or the 
environment. However, it is possible that the formation and implementation of 
a revised continuous improvement plan may have an impact on the pace of 
delivery of the Climate Change Programme.  This will be reported to 
councillors as plans are developed and implications fully analysed. 
 

Conclusion 

42. In recent months the national economic situation has worsened particularly 
with rising inflation, and this has inevitably had an impact on the Council’s 
financial position.  The combination of inflationary pressures and forecast 
interest rate increases have resulted in a significantly revised Medium-Term 
Financial Plan being developed over the last few weeks which includes a 
challenging target for efficiency savings that must be achieved. Cabinet is 
asked to note this report and support updates on the delivery of efficiencies 
being scheduled for future Cabinet meetings. 

SARAH KING 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
 

Date: 11 October 2022 
Contact Officer: Joe Mills 
e-mail: joe.mills@eastleigh.gov.uk  
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

17



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18



APPENDIX A

Budget Summary Original Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
2022/23 to 2026/27 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Net continuing services 3,318 3,847 2,476 (2,893) (6,750) (8,140)

Other:
External Interest Payable 5,123 8,000 15,311 17,000 13,797 13,259
External Interest Receivable (414) (900) (1,009) (996) (838) (793)
Minimum Revenue Provision 6,135 6,966 6,454 7,219 7,467 7,542
Capital Financing from Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0
Contribs to / (from) Reserves 893 (2,510) (8,177) (5,886) 953 2,961
Depreciation (4,906) (4,906) (4,906) (4,906) (4,906) (4,906)
Statutory Accounting Adjustments 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL COST 10,149 10,496 10,149 9,538 9,723 9,923

Transfer To/(From) Reserves 17 (330) (2) (15) 0 0

Total Budget Requirement 10,166 10,166 10,147 9,523 9,723 9,923

AVAILABLE FINANCE:

NDR (3,563) (3,563) (3,563) (2,739) (2,739) (2,739)

Council Tax (Surplus)/Deficit (219) (219) 0 0 0 0

Council Tax - Base (6,384) (6,384) (6,584) (6,784) (6,984) (7,184)

Financed Budget Requirement (10,166) (10,166) (10,147) (9,523) (9,723) (9,923)

BUDGET DEFICIT/(SURPLUS) 0 0 0 0 0 0

 

GENERAL FUND BALANCES 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27
Original Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Balance at 1st April (1,347) (1,347) (1,017) (1,015) (1,000) (1,000)
Appropriations (to)/from Reserve (17) 330 2 15 0 0
(Surplus)/'Deficit in Year 0 0 0 0 0 0
Balance at 31st March (1,364) (1,017) (1,015) (1,000) (1,000) (1,000)

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

19



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

20 October 2022 

STRATEGIC LAND IN BISHOPSTOKE 

Report of the Corporate Director 

 

Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(1) approve consultation with stakeholders on proposals to enhance the 
environment including appropriate public access on the strategic land 
recently purchased by the Council in Bishopstoke;  

(2) endorse the continued tenancy on the site of the fish farm whilst committing 
to work with the business to improve environmental impacts from its 
operation. 

 

Summary 
 
As part of the Council’s strategic land acquisition policy, 103.44 hectares of agricultural 
land were purchased at Stoke Park Farm in Bishopstoke in April 2022.  The land was 
bought with the primary purchase of generating credits to be purchased by developers or 
other agencies to offset nutrient outputs.  In addition to the offset scheme, the benefits of 
the land should be maximised with potential additional uses such as Suitable Alternative 
Natural Greenspace or tree planting schemes, as long as these do not negate the number 
of available nitrate credits. 
 
In order to determine the future uses of this land it is recommended that options outlined 
within this report are developed into a consultation for local residents and stakeholders.  
The intention is to develop a scheme to enhance the local environment within Bishopstoke 
whilst maintaining the commercial benefits of the current fishery tenancy and seeking to 
improve environmental impacts from its operation. 
 
Statutory Powers 
 
S1 Localism Act 2011 

 

21

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Strategic Implications  

1. The development of land uses at Stoke Park Farm, Bishopstoke will help meet 
the objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan (2015 – 2025) to develop green 
infrastructure and deliver an excellent environment for all.  

 

Introduction 

2. Stoke Park Farm was recently acquired by Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) 
as part of their broader strategic land acquisitions that equate to 243.23 
hectares of agricultural land. The strategic land was purchased to take out of 
agricultural use in order to generate credits that developers or other agencies 
could purchase in order to offset their nutrient outputs. 

3. In addition to the offset scheme, the Council is exploring additional uses of the 
strategic land such as generation of further mitigation credits, Solar PV, 
Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) and tree planting schemes. 

4. To ensure that the benefits of the strategic land owned at Stoke Park Farm 
are maximised, it is proposed that a consultation exercise with all 
stakeholders is carried out to run for three calendar months from 1 December 
2022. 

Detail of Initial Proposals 

5. In order to facilitate effective consultation, draft proposals are to be drawn up 
looking at options for the land at Stoke Park Farm.  Appendix A to this report 
sets out details on the location and composition of the land along with 
proposals for indicative land uses. 

6. A significant commercial tenancy on the site is the 14-acre fishery which farms 
ornamental fish.  This is a well-established business with strong community 
links.  It is recommended (recommendation 2) that Cabinet endorse the 
continued tenancy on the site of the fish farm whilst committing to work with 
the business to improve environmental impacts from its operation.    

Consultation 

7. Appendix A provides Cabinet with initial proposals for land use at Stoke Park 
Farm, Bishopstoke.  It is intended to reflect this document, and any comments 
feedback from Cabinet, within a consultation document.  This consultation will 
begin by 1 December 2022 and end after three calendar months and will 
involve Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath Local Area Committee and 
relevant Parish Councils.  Relevant internal Council teams will also feedback 
on the consultation as appropriate including, but not limited to: Development 
Management, Countryside, Ecology and Land Management.  

8. Feedback from the consultation will be collated and presented to Cabinet as 
part of a report for consideration. 

22



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

9. Once direction has been received from Cabinet on the preferred land use 
option(s) a project will be initiated with a business case and delivery 
timescales for Cabinet to review and approve. 

Financial Implications 

10. There are no financial implications arising from this report.  The cost of 
consultation will be met from within existing resources.  Any scheme resulting 
from the consultation feedback will be subject to a full business case to be 
approved by Cabinet. 

Risk Assessment 

11. There are few risks surrounding the proposal to consult on the most 
appropriate uses of the land at Stoke Park Farm, Bishopstoke.  By carrying 
out a consultation exercise alongside full surveys the risk of implementing 
inappropriate land uses is mitigated. 
 

12. It is important that the nutrient credit use of the land is preserved, and any 
other land uses will be assessed to ensure that there is no risk of these credits 
being eroded.   
 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

13. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because the 
decision does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. Therefore, it 
is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

14. There is no direct impact, positive or negative, to climate change or the 
environment from carrying out a consultation exercise. However, it is 
anticipated that the resultant scheme will have a positive impact on the 
environment. 
 

Conclusion 

15. It is recommended that Cabinet endorse the opportunity to maximise the land 
use benefits that arise from the purchase of Stoke Park Farm, Bishoptoke.  
This includes the intention to work with the tenanted fishery on site to improve 
environmental impacts from a business which is key to the area. 

SARAH KING 
Chief Financial Officer 

 
 

Date: 10 October 2022 

23



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Contact Officer: Rory Watson-Newman 
e-mail: Rory.Watson-Newman@eastleigh.gov.uk  
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

24



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 1 of 12 
 

 
Site Name Stoke Park Farm 

Report Proposed Scheme 

Version Document Creation 

Title Number HP727269 

Total Area 103.44 hectares (255.6 ac) 

Name of Author Rory Watson-Newman 

Date of Report 10th October 2022 

Distribution Internal Only 
 

 

 

 

This report outlines a potential scheme for the land and buildings located at Stoke Park Farm. 

 

The information within is to be considered indicative.  

 

 

 

Contents 

 

25



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 2 of 12 
 

 

Introduction …….…..………………………………………………….………………………………………………………………………….….  3 

Background ………………....…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….……….…   4 

Location ………………..……….………………………………………………………………………………………………………………...……   5 

Composition …….…………………...….……………………………………………………………………………………………………………   6 

Ambition ………..……..…………………………….…………………………………………………………………………………………………   

7 

Indicative Land Use ………...……………………………………………………………………………………………………………….….…   9 

Summary …………………………………………………………………..…………………………………………………………………………..  

12 

Further Reading ………...…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..….…   

12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

26



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 3 of 12 
 

Introduction 
 

This document provides an overview and a potential scheme for Stoke Park Farm for consultation.  

 

Such schemes, by nature are long term. Whilst this document represents existing considerations, it is not 

intended to remain static, it should evolve as proposals are brought forward and opportunities emerge. 

 

Prior to implementing or committing to this proposal further research, explorations, surveys and a feasibility 

study must be undertaken.  

 

Any queries regarding the content of this document should be sent by email to Rory Watson-Newman 

rory.watson-newman@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 

 

27

mailto:rory.watson-newman@eastleigh.gov.uk


Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 4 of 12 
 

Background 
 

 

Stoke Park Farm was recently acquired by Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) as part of their broader strategic 

land acquisitions that equate to 243.23 hectares of agricultural land. The strategic land was purchased with 

the insight to generate credits that developers or other agencies could purchase in order to offset their 

nutrient outputs.  

 

In addition to the offset scheme, the Council are exploring additional uses of the strategic land such as 

generation of further mitigation credits, Solar PV, Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) and tree 

planting schemes. 

 
Strategic Land (edged and shaded orange) 

 

28



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 5 of 12 
 

Location 

 
Stoke Park Farm is located off Stoke Common Road on the outskirts of Bishopstoke within the Borough of 

Eastleigh.  

 

Address :-  Stoke Park Farm, Stoke Common Road, Bishopstoke, Eastleigh SO50 6DW  

 

Bishopstoke lies to the Southwest, Fair Oak to the South East, Colden Common to the North and in part the 

land borders the local authority of Winchester.  

 

 

 

 

 

Stoke Park Farm (edged red) 

29



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 6 of 12 
 

Composition 
 

 

Stoke Park Farm occupies 103.44 hectares (255.6 ac) of an undulated landscape. 

The farm incorporates: 

 

 Main vehicular access via Sewall Drive (off Stoke Common Road)  

 Subsidiary tracks dissecting and providing access within the holding 

 Public Rights of Ways crossing the land equating to 4.75km 

 Improved grassland – formerly pasture for 250 dairy cattle 

 Barns, buildings and milking parlour of circa 3400 sq m (36600sq ft) in total 

 Auxiliary hard standings of circa 3 acres 

 Farmhouse and garden of circa 1 acre 

 Fishery that farms ornamental carp occupying circa 14 acres 

 Woodland, parkland trees and varied tree/hedge lines occupying in excess of 17 acres   

 Main river and tributary ditches  

 

In the vicinity are a selection of Ancient woodlands; Stoke Park Woods operated by the Forestry Commission  

is to the South, Upperbarn Copse and Crowdhill Copse both operated by the Woodland Trust to the West.  

Judges Gully Copse and Brick Kiln Copse, both within the boundary, are non-statutory designated Sites of 

Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC).  

Soil is described as freely draining slightly acid loamy soil to the South, and slowly permeable seasonally wet 

slightly acid but base-rich loamy and clayey soils to the North. 

The main river corridor, unsurprisingly, is identified as Flood Zone 2 and 3. The remainder of the land is Flood 

Zone 1, but evident on site are pockets of particularly wet ground. 

The Agricultural Land Classification is Grade 4 (poor quality agricultural land) which has been historically 

demonstrated by the land laid to grass with sparce and occasionally trialed forage crops. 

30



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 7 of 12 
 

Ambitions 

 
Stoke Park Farm provides Eastleigh Borough Council with the opportunity to share the land with the 

community and initiate a diverse range of immersive experiences. Creating an inclusive environment where 

people and wildlife can thrive. 

 

The themes outlined below give a context of the proposed ambitions.     

 

Community 

By providing greater access to nature EBC can create an environment to improve health and well-being and 

attract an increased number of users from a broader and more diverse demographic. 

 

The proposed scheme would:  

 Create additional and alternative public access across the site 

 Improve signage and accessibility  

 Support community engagement and cohesion  

 Encourage the sense of place and responsibility 

 Provide intergenerational interaction opportunities 

 Inspire the creation and display of varied forms of art   

 

 

Environment 

With a long-term management strategy the site lends itself to promote, protect, restore and enhance the 

environment.  

 

Whilst not exhaustive the opportunities include:  

 Habitat creation and enhancements 

 Restoration and creation of woodlands 

 Planting and improved management of trees, shrub and hedgerows  

 Species management including introduction, translocation or eradication 

 Improved recreation and green infrastructure 

 Water attenuation, diversion and improvements 

 Provision of and to showcase alternative resources of energy 

 SANG – to assist elevating threat to New Forest 

 Encourage and support sustainable modes of transport 

 

  

Education 

By partnering with charities and training providers, an educational hub would be created whereby groups or 
individuals can train and / or gain knowledge, whilst assisting with the creation and ongoing management of 
the site.  
 
Applicable programmes would: 

 Facilitate the engagement with land, environment and wildlife-based learning 

 Explore incorporation of construction and maintenance, horticulture and animal care 

31



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 8 of 12 
 

 Target - Students, NEET, Ex Services, SEND, Older Adults (inc. LD &PD), BAME, Community 

 Offer outreach learning potential via schools, colleges, charities, volunteering,   

 Enrich and upskill the community 

 Inform and raise awareness of the important relation between access and wildlife 

 

 

Commercial 

The scheme will be self-financing with revenue sought and generated in various ways. The existing built form 

would be adapted and repurposed to facilitate commercial and educational space, with enhancements 

within the surrounding landscape enabling the ability to draw from additional funding opportunities. 

 

The income streams are summarised as: 

 Nutrient Credits and developers’ contributions 

 Local Nature Partnerships 

 Let Property – Commercial, Residential, Fishery and Community / Educational space 

 Land Management Subsidies 

 Educational and Arts & Culture funding 

 Visitor Centre and Parking  

 Related grants and initiatives 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Indicative Land Use 

32



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 9 of 12 
 

 

Wider Landscape 

Ecological surveys and subsequent reports are due to be compiled which will provide a greater insight into 

and understanding of the attributes and habitats both within, and in close proximity of the Land. Following 

the review and evaluation of this information the Council will be better placed to create a detailed Land 

Management Strategy, that explores the prospect to improve and enhance the biodiversity. 

In advance of a detailed strategy the sketch below compartmentalises the land based on the existing 

features and attributes. It aims to assist with: 

 Progressive change of use to support environmental initiatives 

 Pragmatic and phased implementation aligned with resources   

 Provision of additional public access  

 Inclusion of the built form and other let property  

 Retention of areas in the current form whereby practicable  

 Enhancement of existing wildlife corridors  

 
Public Access 

  

33



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 10 of 12 
 

The network of Public Rights of Way (PRoW) crossing the land compliments the connectivity between Fair 

Oak and Bishopstoke, and relations with Stoke Park Woods, Upperbarn Copse and Crowdhill Copse.  

 

In addition to the existing PRoW, it is envisaged that an area of land would be set aside for visitors to roam 

and enjoy the natural landscape. An area in excess of 20 hectares with circulating informal walking routes 

could be set aside and meet the Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) criteria. 

 

The sketch below is indicative of the area that could potentially facilitate a SANG. 

 

 

  

34



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 11 of 12 
 

Built Form 

The proposed use of the buildings at Stoke Park farm works in conjunction with the ambitions. It will 
repurpose buildings, enhance commercial revenue, support local businesses, deliver community and 
educational facilities and support the delivery of environmental benefits across the land. 

The scheme would: 

 Repurpose and adapt existing built environment  

 Immediately provide Estates office, workshop and store 

 Create commercial space in the form of offices, workshops, storage units and studios 

 Incorporate parking for users including those visiting the proposed SANG  

 Support educational facilities 

 Provide community and exhibition space  

 Include a community and educational garden 

 

 

35



Eastleigh Borough Council 
Stoke Park Farm – Proposal for consultation 

 

Page 12 of 12 
 

Summary 
 

The proposed scheme demonstrates the opportunity for Eastleigh Borough Council to create an inclusive 

environment where people and wildlife can thrive. This would be delivered by encouraging public use, 

repurposing the built form and adjusting the management of the wider landscape.  

 

The attributes of Stoke Park Farm provide the necessary framework to:  

 Improve the health and well-being within our community,  

 Restore, protect and enhance the natural environment,    

 Enrich, upskill and educate visitors, 

 Operate at a level that is commercially viable 

 

This document highlights that a multifaceted site comes with a host of possibilities and in turn invites the 

reader to contribute with comments and ideas to support the proposal to fruition. 

 

 

 

 

 

Further Reading 
 

 The Natural Choice: Securing The Value of Nature 

 Levelling Up the United Kingdom 

 Environment Act 2021: Biodiversity Net Gain 

 EBC Biodiversity Strategy 2022 – 2032 

 EBC Health and Wellbeing Corporate Strategy (2018) 

 EBC Climate Change and Environmental Emergency Strategy 

 EBC Tree Strategy 2022 -2030 

 

 

36



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 13 October 2022  

CABINET 

Thursday, 20 October 2022 

REVISIONS TO THE DOMESTIC WASTE AND RECYCLING POLICY 

Report of the Executive Head of Neighbourhood Services 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel:  
 
(1) comments on the proposed revisions to the Domestic Waste & Recycling 

Policy. 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

(2) agrees the proposed revisions to the Domestic Waste & Recycling Policy. 

 
 

Summary 
 
On 22 July 2020 Cabinet approved changes to the Domestic Waste & Recycling Policy.  In 
order to further improve and develop waste and recycling, provide clearer information for 
residents to help residents recycle and manage their waste, it is now timely to consider 
adjusting this Policy.   

A number of changes are requested to be considered to enable the Council to meet its 
waste obligations and objectives.   

Statutory Powers 
 
The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 

The Environment Act 2021 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The changes proposed will ensure that the Council is able to continue to meet 
its Minimising Waste and Maximising Resources objective in the Corporate 

37

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Plan 2015 – 2025.  It is in the Council’s economic and environmental interests 
for residents in the Borough to reduce resource consumption.  

2. The waste and recycling service is a significant part of the Council’s 
operations and expenditure, delivering key statutory, as well as discretionary, 
services and playing a significant role in the reputation and community 
leadership role of the Council with residents and other stakeholders.  This 
includes helping to create a clean and attractive environment, responding to 
the Climate and Environmental Emergency and improving service efficiency.  

3. The Government’s documents “Resources and waste strategy – Our Waste, 
our resources: A Strategy for England” (December 2018) and “Waste 
Prevention Programme for England: Towards a Resource Efficient Economy 
(March 2021)” set out priorities for action to manage resources and waste in 
accordance with the waste hierarchy, that these proposed changes support.  
  

4. In July 2018, the European Commission adopted an ambitious Circular 
Economy Package (CEP) introducing a revised legislative framework to help 
stimulate Europe's transition towards a circular economy, identifying steps for 
the reduction of waste and establishing an ambitious and credible long-term 
path for waste management and recycling. The UK government have 
transposed the majority of Circular Economy Package measures into UK 
legislation to include a recycling target of 65% by 2035 and reduce landfilled 
municipal waste to 10% by 2035.  

Introduction 

5. Revisions were last made to the Council’s Waste and Recycling Policy in July 
2020.  Minor changes to this policy are proposed in order to provide clearer 
and more information to residents and ensure the policy is up to date.  

6. Responding to the Climate and Environmental Emergency remains critical, as 
is the need to ensure residents are also clear about their responsibilities and 
the Council’s responsibilities for managing their waste and recycling.  

7. The proposed changes to policy set out in this report provide further 
information to enable residents to effectively manage their waste and 
recycling, reduce its impact on the local environment and provide further 
clarity about how to do this.  It is also important the policy is easy to 
understand and is up to date.   Appendix 1 sets out the proposed Policy, with 
the changes outlined by ‘tracked changes’.   

Revisions to the Policy 

8. The following amendments are proposed to the Waste & Recycling Policy: 

9. Bins remain the property of the Council and all properties that have space for 

a wheeled bin anywhere within the boundary of the property will be required to 

use one. 

 

38



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

10. Bin capacity – additional wording to mirror the website explaining what will be 

done about unauthorised bins and when a larger or additional black household 

waste bin may be issued to a resident. The supply of an additional black bin 

for children in nappies will be limited to three years. 

 
11. Collection points – further guidance is provided for properties in private 

lanes/roads/driveways and that all collections will be made from the adopted 

highway. 

 
12. Non-collected bins – when there is blocked access, advising that we will 

attempt to return on collection day or within 2 working days. 

 
13. Contaminated bins – changing this to ‘incorrect items’ as residents do not 

always understand what ‘contaminated’ means and making it clear that 

incorrect items applies to all bins.  Also explaining that residents can only pay 

for a re-collection if the incorrect items are removed. 

 
14. Replacement bins – the charge remains for the replacement of black 

household waste bins, and this includes residents moving into existing homes 

if the black bin has not been left.  If a resident cancels their garden waste 

subscription and then re-subscribes, they are expected to pay for the 

redelivery of the garden waste bin.  These charges are currently being made.  

 
15. Bins for new developments – developers are required to provide adequate 

storage for containers and easy access to collection vehicles.  Neighbourhood 

Services and Planning Policy staff are working together to revise the Quality 

Places Supplementary Planning Document to ensure future developments 

have adequate waste and recycling storage space and access.  

 
16. Other waste collections – homes being run as holiday lets are expected to 

pay for waste collections. 

 
17. Bulky household waste collections – no refunds will be given for 

cancellations (this is currently in operation). 

Financial Implications 

18. There are no financial implications to the Council related to the proposals as 
set out in the proposed new Policy.   

Risk Assessment  

19. Changes within the Policy are designed to minimise the risks associated both 
with delivering the waste collection services and not reducing resource 
consumption.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

39



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

20. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report because the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people.  The proposed Policy 
changes have been reviewed against Equality Impact Assessment criteria and 
should not adversely impact people with protected characteristics.  The 
charges being made for replacement household waste bins have been in 
place some time and no further charges are proposed. The changes promote 
the aims of The Equality Act and positively support them through the use of 
concessions for those facing social deprivation. Assisted collections for frail or 
disabled residents will continue to be made and no changes have been made 
to them.   There are no further equality and diversity implications. 
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

21. The proposals to the Waste and Recycling Policy do not lead to an increase in 
Greenhouse Gas/CO2, or damage ecology or the environment.  The 
proposals seek to help reduce resource consumption, encourage households 
to take responsibility to manage their waste and recycling and help protect the 
environment.  Proposals to collection points could reduce fuel usage.  

Conclusion 

22. The changes proposed to the Domestic Waste and Recycling Policy will 
support improvements to the management and operation of waste collection 
services and provide clearer understanding for households. 

23. It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to adopt the revised Policy. 

GALE SMITH 
PROJECT MANAGER - WASTE 

 
Date: 8 September 2022  
Contact Officer: Gale Smith  
Tel No:  
e-mail: gale.smith@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 None. 
 
 
 
 
 

40



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 Revised Domestic Waste & Recycling Policy 
 
 
 

waste-policy-2021 

revised 22 Sept 2022.pdf
 

41



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

43



 

Background  
Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to 
minimising waste in the Borough, tackling climate 
change and creating an excellent environment for all. 
In July 2020 October 2022, Cabinet approved 
revisions to the September 2020 May 2019 Waste 
and Recycling Policy and this is the agreed Policy. The 
Policy is written in accordance with The 
Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2010 as amended,  
The Waste Regulations (England and Wales) 2011, 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 and the Highways 
Act 1980. 

The Service 
The Council operates an alternate weekly kerbside 
collection service for household (residual) waste and 
dry mixed recycling, alongside weekly food waste and 
fortnightly glass and battery collection services. In 
addition, chargeable garden and bulky waste 
collection services are available.  

Healthcare waste is also collected from residents 
following a referral from a GP, District Nurse or other 
local health professional. For more information visit 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-recycling/your-
collections/healthcare-waste. 

Bin type/colour 
The average household will be supplied with a 180 litre 
black wheeled bin for household waste and a 240 litre 
green wheeled bin for recycling.  

A seven litre brown internal food waste bin (caddy) 
and a 23 litre brown external food waste bin are also 
provided.   Please note that the food waste collection 
service is being phased in for flats.  

A 38 litre glass box is provided. A 240 litre wheeled bin 
is available on request for properties that have large 
quantities of glass fortnightly (in excess of three glass 
boxes).  

Residents who subscribe to the garden waste service 
will receive a 240 litre green wheeled bin with a brown 
lid. 

Flats will have 1,100 litre bins for general waste (black 
lid) and recycling (green lid) for shared use.  

Only bins provided by, or with the consent of the 
Council and manufactured in accordance with British 
Standard EN 840 will be emptied by the Council’s 
collection teams. Bins that do not accord with this 
criteria will not be emptied.   

Bins remain the property of the Council.   All 
properties that can accommodate a wheeled bin 
anywhere within the boundary of the property will be 
required to use one unless agreed otherwise with the 
waste & recycling service.  

 

 

 

44

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-recycling/healthcare-waste-collections


3  |  Waste Policy  |  Greener Borough 

Bin capacity 
Bin capacity is allocated on the number of occupants per 
property. All bins must be identified with the property number 
to ensure only authorised bins are collected. In order to ensure 
that bins are emptied, they should be numbered by the 
householder to reflect the property to which they belong. 

Properties with unauthorised black household waste 
bins or excessive numbers of bins will  be recorded by the 
waste collection crews and reported to the waste & recycling 
service. Residents will be contacted and advised about the 
Council’s Policy and be provided with advice on how to minimise waste and maximise recycling.   If there is no 
good reason for excess/unauthorised bins, they will not be emptied and will be removed.  
 
Larger or additional household waste (black) bins are not available unless there are extenuating reasons, eg, 
number of occupants, a household member in nappies or a medical condition that generates extra waste.   It 
must be demonstrated that recycling is actively being carried out and evidence must be provided of how many 
people live permanently at the property.  Extenuating reasons must be agreed by the waste & recycling service.  
If there are children in nappies an additional container could be provided for a three-year period.   
 
 Residents can request a larger or an additional recycling bin, glass box and external kitchen bin if there is space  
 to store it safely off the public highway.  
 
 
 

Number of occupants within  a 
domestic premise  
(including houses of multiple occupancy) 

Bin provision 

One or two • 1 x 140 litre black wheeled bin (household waste)  
• 1 x 140 litre green wheeled bin (recycling) 
• 1 x 7 litre indoor kitchen caddy 
• 1 x 23 litre external kitchen bin 
• 1 x 38 litre glass box 

Three to five • 1 x 180 litre black wheeled bin (household waste) 
• 1 x 240 litre green wheeled bin (recycling) 
• 1 x 7 litre indoor kitchen caddy 
• 1 x 23 litre external kitchen bin 
• 1 x 38 litre glass box 

45



4  |  Waste Policy  |  Greener Borough 

Six to nine • 2 x 180 litre black wheeled bin (household waste) 
• 2 x 240 litre green wheeled bin (recycling) 
• 1 x 7 litre indoor kitchen caddy 
• 1 x 23 litre external kitchen bin 
• 2 x 38 litre glass box 

10+ Where a household with 10 or more occupants, or with more 
than one child in nappies, or for any other acceptable reason, 
can demonstrate that they have insufficient capacity then 
they will be allocated additional capacity. This assessment will 
be made by a Waste Officer. 

Flats (per six units) • 1,100 litre black wheeled bin (household waste) 
• 1,100 litre green wheeled bin (recycling) 
• Mini glass recycling facility (subject to site assessment) 
• Kitchen waste container available on request 

Collection times 
All bins, boxes and bags must be put out for collection 
before 6.30am on the specified collection day.  

All wheeled bins must be presented with the lid closed. 
They must not be overflowing or too heavy for the 
collection crew to manoeuvre safely. 

Overflowing or heavy bins will not be collected. A 
notice will be left on the bin stating why the bin has 
been left and residents will be required to remove 
the excess waste and then wait for the next 
scheduled collection.  

Alternatively, the Council can return to empty the bin 
providing that the resident agrees to cover the cost of 
doing so, with payment required in advance.  

Glass boxes must not be overfilled - glass must be level 
with the rim of the box. Batteries should be contained 
within a clear plastic bag and placed on top of the glass 
within the box.                                                                                

Food waste bins must be presented with the lid closed 
and all waste must be wrapped in either newspaper or 
biodegradable bags. 

Following the collection of waste containers, residents 
are required to remove them from the publicly 
maintained highway by the end of the scheduled 
collection day.  

Collection frequency 
Wheeled bins for household waste and recycling will 

be collected on alternate weeks.  

•      Food waste bins will be collected weekly  

• Glass recycling boxes and batteries will be  
collected fortnightly 

• Garden waste will be collected fortnightly from  
subscribed households 

• Collection dates are available  at  
www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-
recycling/collection-dates  

Additional recycling 
Residents can request a larger recycling wheeled bin 
(maximum size 240 litre) or an additional recycling bin 
if it can be safely stored off the public highway. If on 
occasions additional recycling needs to be collected, it 
should be placed in a cardboard box (not exceeding 
70cm square) next to the wheeled bin on the specified 
collection day. 

Glass - Should a household require additional glass 
capacity, an additional glass box should be requested. 
Broken glass should be wrapped in newspaper and 
placed in the black household waste bin for safe 
disposal.  

Formatted: Indent: Hanging:  0.74 cm

46

http://
http://
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-recycling/collection-dates
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-recycling/collection-dates


5  |  Waste Policy  |  Greener Borough 

Cardboard – Please rip up and put in recycling bin.  

Additional household waste 
Additional household waste, from alongside or on top 
of a black wheeled bin, will not be collected except on 
the collection following the December bank holiday.  

One refuse sack will be collected, on this occasion only.  

It is the responsibility of the householder to dispose of 

additional household waste as follows: 

• Place the waste in their wheeled bin awaiting the 
next collection. 

• Dispose of the waste at their local Household 
Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC). 

• Arrange for a bulky household waste collection 
from the Council (specified items only). Please 
note that there is a charge for this service. 

• Arrange for another licensed waste carrier to 
collect and dispose of the waste. 

 

 

Collection points 
Unless otherwise agreed with the Council, 
householders are required to place their bins, boxes, 
caddies or bags where the private land ends and the 
public highway begins (the front edge of your property 
at the point nearest the public highway).   

If the property is in a private lane/road, driveway or 
track, the collection point will, wherever possible, be 
where the edge of the private lane or road meets the 
public highway. Householders are required to return 

their bins to their property by the end of the scheduled 
collection day to ensure the highway is not obstructed. 

Eastleigh Borough Council reserves the right to change 
collection points if they are unsafe or impact on the 
efficiency of collections. Bins must be placed in a 
visible location for crews.  

Private Roads and Driveways 

The Council’s large refuse collection vehicles and 
collection staff should not be accessing private 
property and un-adopted roads, as we cannot be held 
responsible for damage and resultant wear 
and tear of the private roads.  As a general rule, private 
drives and un-adopted roads are not 
designed or engineered to accommodate household 
waste and recycling collection vehicles and are not 
maintained by the Council.   
 

47



6  |  Waste Policy  |  Greener Borough 

Unless agreed with the waste and recycling service and 
with a signed disclaimer, all collections will be made 
from the adopted highway. 

 

Assisted collections 
An assisted collection means waste and recycling 
containers can be collected from within the boundary 
of a property and returned to the same location once 
emptied.  

Householders with impairments, for example a 
physical or mental disability, illness or difficulties 
moving their wheeled bin/container may be eligible for 
an assisted collection.  

Eligibility is based on genuine need and subject to 
there being no other person at the property able to 
present the bins. 

The person (this could also include family member or 
carer) making the request will be required to complete 
an assisted collection form, which can be found online 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-
recycling/additional-services/ assisted-collection-
service or if necessary, can be forwarded to the 
applicant on request. This request will be logged on a 
confidential database.  

All such requests will be agreed by a member of the 
Waste and Recycling team and will be reviewed on a 
regular basis. A site visit may be required.  

Households are responsible for informing the Council 
should circumstances change or if there is a change in 
occupant and the service is no longer required. 
Eastleigh Borough Council reserves the right to cancel 
an assisted collection, having given notice, if we 
believe it is no longer required. 

Non-collected bins 
If bins are not collected because of the crews’ 
inattention, the highway is temporarily blocked or for 
any exceptional circumstance, a return trip will be 
made to empty the bin.  We will attempt to return on 
your collection day.  If this is not possible, providing 

access is available, we will return within two working 
days.  The target for this will be within  two working 
days 48 hours of the non-collection issue being raised.  
Residents are required asked to report a non-
collected bin by the end of the following working day. 
Non-collected bins should not be reported before 
2pm on the day of collection.  

When bins are not collected due to the resident not 
making them available at the specified collection time 
and day, or they contain incorrect items residents can 
either: 

• Wait until the next scheduled collection 

• Choose to dispose of their waste at the HWRC  

• Request the Council to return to empty the bin,  
as long as the resident removes the incorrect 
items, and the resident agrees to cover the cost of 
doing so, with payment required in advance 

Non-collected bins from communal bin  
stores- where possible the managing agent will be 
contacted and advised of the support and options 
available. 

Contamination Incorrect 
items in your bins 
Where a bin has been observed as having incorrect 
items in it, a notice will be left on it stating why it has 
not been emptied and the crew will report it. This 
applies to all binsindividual household waste and 
recycling bins only. The Council will (where possible) 
contact the managing agent directly for properties 
with communal bin stores. 

Residents who regularly put recycling in the household 
bin and household waste in the recycling bin could face 
a fixed penalty notice under Section 46 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

Residents will be required to remove non-targeted 
incorrect material and wait for the next scheduled 
collection for the bin to be emptied. 

48

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-recycling/missed-collections-and-additional-services/assisted-collection-service
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-recycling/missed-collections-and-additional-services/assisted-collection-service
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-recycling/missed-collections-and-additional-services/assisted-collection-service
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-recycling/missed-collections-and-additional-services/assisted-collection-service


7  |  Waste Policy  |  Greener Borough 

Alternatively, as long as the incorrect items are 
removed, residents can request that the Council 
returns to empty the bin, provided that the resident 
covers the cost of doing so, with payment required in 
advance. 

Replacement bins 
It is the householder’s responsibility to pay for the 
administration and delivery of replacement household 
waste (black) wheeled bins from Eastleigh Borough 
Council should the bin go missing or be damaged by 
the householder. Payment should be made online or 
via Customer Services. Bins not supplied by the Council 
will not be emptied.  

The charge has been introduced to cover the 
administration and delivery of bins and is intended to 
encourage residents to take responsibility for the 
wheeled bins provided and to reduce demand for 
replacement containers. 

The charge applies to a resident moving into an 
existing home if the black bin has not been left by the 
previous resident.  This applies to rented, social and 
privately owned properties.   

However, should any bin be damaged or lost due to 
crew error, the Council will replace it at no charge to 
the resident. Please make sure you number your 
replacement bin once you receive it.  

Garden waste bins remain the property of the Council 
and will be collected when a resident no longer 
subscribes to the service.   If you give up the service 
and then subscribe to the service again, a charge will 
be made for the redelivery of a garden waste bin.  

Recycling bins, glass boxes and food caddies will be 
replaced free of charge.  

The delivery and administration charges for lost and 
damaged bins will be reviewed annually in the 
Council’s Fees and Charges report. 

Bins for new developments 
Property developers are required to meet the cost of 
providing bins for new developments and these must 
be procured through the Council and agreed in 
advance with the Waste and Recycling team. 
Developers are required to ensure that all premises 
have adequate storage space for containers and easy 
access for collection vehicles is in place.  

Further information on the storage and collection of 
waste and recycling can be found in our 
Supplementary Planning Document 
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/2398/quality-
places.pdf.  Additional information can be found at: 
www.eastleigh.gov.uk/business/support-for-
businesses/commercial-services/commercial-waste-
recycling/bins-for-new-developments 

Residential homes/ schools 
A charge will be made to collect waste from residential 
homes/hostels or schools.   To arrange a collection 
contact: www.eastleigh.gov.uk/businesswaste 

Other waste collections 
Charity shops 

• Waste from charity shops is not permitted in the  
domestic waste stream and will not be collected; 

• A separate, chargeable service for charity shop  
waste is offered through the Business Waste 
Collection Service. Details are available at  
www.eastleigh.gov.uk/businesswaste 

Businesses working from home 

• Waste from businesses working from home  
(including childminders) will be subject to a 
charge 

• No additional capacity will be provided for waste  
from businesses working from home. A business 
can pay for a commercial waste and recycling 
collection by visiting www.eastleigh.gov.uk/ 
businesswaste 

49

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/business/support-for-businesses/commercial-services/commercial-waste-recycling/bins-for-new-developments
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/business/support-for-businesses/commercial-services/commercial-waste-recycling/bins-for-new-developments
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/business/support-for-businesses/commercial-services/commercial-waste-recycling/bins-for-new-developments
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/businesswaste
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/businesswaste
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/businesswaste
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/businesswaste
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/businesswaste
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/businesswaste


8  |  Waste Policy  |  Greener Borough 

In the event that householders do not comply with the 
policies of waste from businesses working from home 
(including childminders), the following process will 
apply: 

• The bin will not be emptied; an advice note will  
be left by the collection crew giving the reason 

• Advice will be given to the householder on  their 
responsibilities under the Duty of Care; the bin 
can be emptied by the Council for an appropriate 
charge 

Please note, homes being run as holiday lets, would be 
expected to pay for their waste collections.  

Animal waste in domestic 
bins 
Waste from domestic pets is collected as part of 
household waste (black bin) waste collections only. 

• The waste must be wrapped 

• No additional capacity will be provided for waste  
from domestic pets 

• The quantity of waste will be limited by the  
weight of the bin, i.e. if it’s overfilled with heavy  
waste (cat litter especially), then no collection will  
be made 

• Waste from businesses e.g. catteries and  kennels 
is defined as industrial waste under the Controlled 
Waste Regulations (Schedule 3). As such, the 
Council has no duty to collect it. Paid collections 
can be made through the Business Waste 
Collection service on request 

In the event that householders do not comply with the 
policies on animal waste in the domestic wheeled bins 
the following process will apply: 

• The bin will not be emptied; an advice note will  
be left by the collection crew giving the reason 

• Residents will be required to remove the  
offending material then either: 

- wait for the next scheduled collection 

- dispose of their waste at the HWRC 

- request the Council to return to empty the 
bin, provided the resident agrees to cover 
the cost of doing so, with payment required 
in advance, or arrange for a licensed waste 
carrier to collect and dispose of the waste. 

Garden waste in domestic 
bins 
Garden waste is not permitted in the household 
waste or recycling waste bins and will not be 
collected; 

A separate, chargeable service for garden waste is 
available to householders. Information on how to 
subscribe is available on www.eastleigh.gov.uk/ 
gardenwaste. 

DIY waste in domestic bins 
The Council recognises that on rare occasions, small 
amounts of DIY waste will be placed in the black 
wheeled bin for collection. 

• The quantity of waste will be limited by the  
weight of the bin, i.e. if it’s overfilled with heavy 
waste, then no collection will be made 

• No additional capacity will be provided for    DIY 
waste 

• Paint tins are not accepted for collection in the  
black wheeled bin as they get compressed during 
the collection process causing paint residue to 
leak onto the road surface 

• Brick rubble is not accepted for collection through 
the black wheeled bin as the weights involved 
contravene Health and Safety Guidelines 

• Hazardous material such as plasterboard will not 
be accepted and should be disposed of 
appropriately 

50

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/gardenwaste
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/gardenwaste
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/gardenwaste


9  |  Waste Policy  |  Greener Borough 

Garden waste bins 

In the event that householders do not comply 
with the policies relating to the collection and 
disposal of garden waste, the following process 
will apply:  

The bin will not be emptied, an advice note will be 
left by the collection crew giving the reason: 

- Residents will be required to remove the offending 
material and then wait for the next scheduled 
collection 

- Residents may choose to dispose of their waste at 
the HWRC 

- Request the Council to return to empty the bin, 
provided the resident agrees to cover the cost of 
doing so, with payment required in advance, or 
arrange for a licensed waste carrier to collect and 
dispose of the waste. 

Healthcare waste 
The Council provides a non-chargeable separate 
collection for infectious waste and discarded sharps 
from domestic properties. 

• The person making the request will be required  
to complete a Healthcare Waste Collection 
request which must be signed by their GP. This 
request will be logged on a confidential database, 
which will be provided to the crew only 

• All requests will be agreed by a waste  
management officer and will be reviewed annually 

For more information visit: 
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-
recycling/your-collections/healthcare-waste 

Bulky household  waste 
collections 
Eastleigh Borough Council provides a separate 
chargeable collection of bulky household waste; a list 
of items suitable for collection are as follows: 

• Furniture (such as sofas, chairs and tables) 

• Fridge freezers 

• Televisions 

• Washing machines 

• Carpets (underlay and carpet classed as two  
separate items) 

• Mattresses 

• Bathroom suites (bath, toilet, sinks), please note  

we do not collect cast iron baths  

• We cannot collect: 

• DIY waste such as fixtures or fittings 

• kitchen units/worktops or tiles 

• miscellaneous waste 

Collections are made on a specified day. Only those 
items listed at time of request will be collected. 

• Payment of the relevant charge must be paid  
prior to the collection 

• Residents are required to present their items no  
earlier than 24 hours before collection 

• Where practicable, items to be collected must be 
presented for collection at the front of the 
householder’s property or at the point where the 
refuse is collected from on their collection day. If 
the householder has a valid reason and is unable 
to carry the items to the collection point and 
there is no one else available to do so, an assisted 
collection may be provided 

51



10  |  Waste Policy  |  Greener Borough 

• No collections will take place from inside the  
householder’s home 

• If a collection is not made on the day specified  
due to unforeseen circumstances, the resident 
will be contacted to rearrange the collection 

• Where a cancellation is made within two working  
days of the agreed collection date a full refund 
will be made 

• If a bulky waste item(s) is/are not presented  for 
collection on the agreed collection date a refund will 
not be made unless cancellation or amendment was 
made two working days prior to the agreed collection 
date 

• No refunds will be given for cancellations or for items 
you no longer want collected. 

For more information visit:   
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/waste-bins-and-
recycling/additional-services/bulky-waste 

• Concessions 

Concessions will be available for residents in receipt of 
housing benefit, council tax support, universal credit or 
pensions credits for bulky waste and garden waste 
collections.  

These concessions will be reviewed annually under the 
Fees and Charges report. 

Alternative arrangements 
Please note special arrangements will be employed 
during periods of adverse weather, Bank Holidays or 
circumstances beyond the control of the Council. 
Information on these changes will be advertised on 
our website and through our Your Weekly Borough 
News email service. 

We will make every effort to minimise any disruption 
to residents and will endeavour to collect containers as 
soon as we can.  

Contacts 
Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRCs) 
(Hampshire County Council-run) 

Eastleigh – Stoney Croft Rise, Chandler’s Ford, 
Eastleigh SO53 3YU 

Fair Oak – Knowle Lane, SO50 7DZ 

Hedge End – Shamblehurst Lane SO30 2AD 

Netley – Grange Road, SO31 5FF 

Eastleigh Borough Council, Eastleigh House,  Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

Telephone: 023 8068 8000   
Email: customerservicecentre@eastleigh.gov.uk  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  -0.75 cm,  No bullets or
numbering

52



 
 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL  

Thursday, 13 October 2022  

CABINET 

Thursday, 20 October 2022 

CORPORATE SERVICE PERFORMANCE REPORT 

Report of the Resource Manager 

 

Recommendation(s) 

For Policy and Performance: 

It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel: 
1. note the service performance position of the Council for the first quarter of 

the year making any recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate.   
  

For Cabinet:   
  
It is recommended that Cabinet:  

2. note the service performance of the Council for the first quarter of 2022/23 
and consider any recommendations from Policy and Performance Scrutiny 
Panel.  
 

 

Summary 
 
This report presents the Council’s operational performance position for the first quarter 
(Q1) of 2022/23 and highlights significant and emerging performance issues. Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs) for service areas are outlined in Appendix A of the report.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Local Government Act 1972 and Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Regular monitoring and management of the Council’s performance, is key to 
ensuring delivery against strategic objectives set out in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan 2015-2025, delivery of actions in the Corporate Action Plan 
22/23, and contributes to the management of corporate risk. This report details 

55

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

key performance indicators which allow the monitoring of performance trends. 
Individual performance measures are being actively managed by service 
managers with the support of the Resource Management team.  

  
2. The Quarterly Monitoring report traditionally includes financial performance 

alongside service delivery performance.  With the rapidly changing national 
economic situation, forecasts calculated for the first quarter are in some cases 
no longer relevant.  A more accurate financial position is currently being 
forecast and a full update on the financial position will be provided to Cabinet 
on 20 October 2022.  

 

Introduction 

3. This report brings together the context of the Council’s strategic ambitions and 
its performance working towards them.  Appendix A details individual key 
performance measures for each service area categorised into five themes: 
Environment, Economy, Health & Wellbeing, Housing Development and 
Organisation. The Corporate KPI Review for 2022/23 was scrutinised by 
Policy and Performance in July 2022 and approved by Cabinet in September 
2022. The implementation of the recommendations is under-way and 
performance reporting will be adjusted from the second quarter of 2022/23.  

Performance Overview 

4. Performance overall is good considering the difficult environment, challenges 
in the labour market, and customer demand. The most significant challenges 
have been felt within the Waste and Recycling service area driven by the 
difficulty in recruiting, which is a nationwide problem. Where challenging areas 
have been identified action is being taken to mitigate impacts and improve 
performance in the short and longer term 

5. A considerable amount of management effort is dedicated to service 
improvement (Case Management, Waste Services, recruitment), maintaining 
performance, and addressing critical external threats (e.g., changes in 
demand and in the labour market). At the same time the Council continues to 
refine its performance and planning processes, developing proposals for 
longer term home/office working, and pressing forward with its ambitions on 
Housing delivery, management and lettings. Strategic and service planning for 
2023/24 is aiming to address the challenges and complex demands across the 
Council’s various activities. It will be important for the Council to improve and 
further develop its approach to prioritising and planning.  

6. The percentage of invoices paid within 10 days during the first quarter of 
2022/23 was low and has resulted in a consistent red status. Performance 
improvements were being stalled by a backlog of registration work, which was 
brought up to date during June 2022. Some marginal improvement can be 
seen in June’s performance, but the impact of putting in place detailed training 
and processing targets for staff has seen the percentage of invoices paid in 10 

56



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

days increased to 85% in July and 77% during August, both of which result in 
a green status.  

7. The ‘Cost of Living Crisis’, which is pushing more residents into poverty, and 
the pressure on welfare services for the most vulnerable is greater than ever. 
All homelessness prevention, housing and community development services 
are seeing higher demand and a greater complexity of cases.  

Recruitment and Retention 

8. Corporate turnover, although remaining high, has plateaued. The number of 
leavers in a rolling 12-month period for June decreased to 93, a fall from 102 
in May. Career advancement remains the main reason for resigning and the 
extremely buoyant employment market means there are a lot of opportunities 
for people to apply for, often at a higher salary.  

9. Difficulty in recruiting to these vacancies does risk impacting service 
performance and the delivery of local projects. Services are managing where 
necessary with short-term measures, such as agency staff or a temporary 
reprioritisation of workload. Vacancy savings are forecast to total £400,000 
beyond the target for the year across all services. Whilst this delivers a 
financial benefit, it potentially represents planned activity being delayed, lower 
quality of service and further pressure on existing resource. However, some of 
the posts are intentionally being held vacant to allow services to carefully 
balance future requirements and pressures. 

10. The revised People Strategy which is currently being drafted aims to resolve 
this challenge through initiatives to improve retention, alongside targeted 
recruitment campaigns to support hard to recruit posts and the Council has 
adapted where it advertises vacancies to increase visibility. The Council 
continues to focus on improving its retention position to reduce the need for 
recruitment and to support the career development of existing staff.   

Risk Assessment 

11. The purpose of the performance monitoring process is to give Councillors and 
the public the assurance that the Council’s performance is performing broadly 
in line with service targets. Risks to service performance are identified through 
the monitoring of performance indicators with mitigations put in place where 
necessary if performance deteriorates.  

57



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Equality and Diversity Implications  

12. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because the 
decision does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of 
opportunity, or fostering good relations between different people. Therefore, it 
is considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications  

13. There is no direct impact, positive or negative, to climate change or the 
environment. However, effective performance enables the delivery of the 
Council’s Strategic Objectives which include supporting the Climate Change 
Programme 

Conclusion 

14. The significant performance areas outlined within this report, together with the 
overview of service KPIs contained within Appendix A, give Councillors an 
opportunity to understand current performance and risks impacting the 
delivery of services to customers. Whilst the Council is continuing to deliver a 
comprehensive range of services there are some performance areas needing 
attention and rectification of these issues is important in ensuring the Council 
is continuing to meet customer needs.  

 
LEWIS GOOLD 

RESOURCE MANAGER 

 
Date: 29 September 2022 
Contact Officer: Lewis Goold  
Tel No: 02380688137 
e-mail: lewis.goold@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 

58



Row KPI definition Better = Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 KPI thresholds

01 Collected domestic waste recycled (%) ↑
Estimated figure 

45% TBC

Quarterly collated 

figure

Quarterly collated 

figure

Data not yet 

available

Green = 45% or more

Amber = less than 45%

Red = less than 42.4%

02
Collected domestic residual waste (Kg 

per household per month)
↓ Awaiting data

Quarterly collated 

figure

Quarterly collated 

figure

Data not yet 

available

Green = less than 35.5kg

Amber = less than 36.7kg

Red = 36.7kg or more

03a

Customer-reported missed bins - refuse 

& recycling only (number, and as 

percentage of all bins collected)

↓

AMBER

340

(0.14%)

AMBER

301

(0.12%)               

AMBER

346

(0.14%)

  AMBER

349

(0.14%)

Green = less than 300

Amber = less than 350

Red = 350 or more

03b

Repeat missed bins within same month 

by household (number, and as 

percentage of all missed bins)

↓

GREEN

1

(0.3%)

GREEN

15

(5.0%)

GREEN

0

(0%)

GREEN

19

(5.4%)             

Green = less than 10%

Amber = less than 15%

Red = 15% or more

04

Land Audit Management System (LAMS) 

score (% of non-acceptable rated 

inspections, & actual number of 

inspections)

↓

GREEN

0.0%

(0/63)

RED*

0.0%

(0/48)

RED*

0.0%

(0/32)

RED*

0.0%

(0/5)

Green = 5% or less

Red = more than 5%

05
Clearing of fly-tipping completed on 

time (%, & actual number of incidents)
↑

GREEN

98%

(83/85)

RED

88%

(63/72)

RED

83%

(48/58)

RED

79%

(76/96)

Green = 95% or more

Amber = 90% or more

Red = less than 90%

06

NO2 concentration at monitoring site 

with highest level (average for year to 

date in ugm-3)

↓
No data 

available*
No data available*

RED

46.5µgm-3

RED

45.3µgm-3

Green = 40µgm-3 or less

Amber = more than 40µgm-3

Red = more than 45µgm-3

07
Noise nuisance requests responded to 

on time (% & actual number of requests)
↑

AMBER

89%

(16/18)

GREEN

100%

(17/17)

GREEN

97%

(33/34)

GREEN

100%

(25/25)

Green = 90% or more

Amber = less than 90%

Red = less than 75%

08a

Businesses supported (number per 

month and YTD) including Wessex 

House and Platform4 Business

↑

GREEN

172*

(YTD = 2470 

[2,283 = COVID]

RED

11

RED

23 (+ 6 referrals)

(YTD = 34)

RED

14

(YTD = 48)

Suggested target 2022/23 (as 

return to BAU, with no Covid 

grants):

Green = 180 or more for year (or 

15 or more per month);  Amber = 

150-180/yr (or 12-15/month)

Red = less than 150 for year (or less 

than 12 per month).

[Previous target for 2021/22:

Green = 1,000 or more for year;

Red = less than 1,000 for year]

Full Performance Indicator Monitoring Report - June 2022                                                Appendix A

59



08b
Businesses registered to pay rates 

(number)
↑ 3,203 3,197 3,195 3,191 Target yet to be decided

09a
Council Tax collected (cumulative 

percentage) 
↑

GREEN

96.9%

[2019/20 = 

96.0%]

GREEN

9.2% 

[2021/22 = 9.1%

2019/20 = 9.6%]

GREEN

18.4%

[2021/22 = 18.1%

2019/20 = 19.1%]

GREEN

27.3%

[2021/22 = 27.1%

2019/20 = 27.9%]

Green = within 1% of 2019/20

Amber = within 2% of 2019/20

Red = more than 2% lower than 

2019/20

09b
Non-domestic Rates (NDR - business 

rates) collected (cumulative percentage)
↑

GREEN 

98.6%

[2019/20 = 

98.8%]

AMBER

8.7%

(provisional 

figures)

[2021/22 = 10.3%

2019/20 = 9.4%]

AMBER

18.3%

(provisional 

figures)

[2021/22 = 20.3%

2019/20 = 20.0%]

RED

25.9%

(provisional 

figures)

[2021/22 = 24.4%

2019/20 = 28.7%]

Green = within 1% of 2019/20

Amber = within 2% of 2019/20

Red = more than 2% lower than 

2019/20

10
Occupancy rate for tenantable space at 

Eastleigh Business Centre* (%)
↑

RED

59%

RED

56%

RED

57%

RED

58%

Green = 75% or more

Amber = 65% or more

Red = less than 65%.

[Thresholds before 4/2020: Green 

= 84% or more; Amber = less than 

84%; Red = less than 80%]

11

Council Tax - Customers with 

outstanding account queries older than 

15 days (number)

↓
GREEN

77

GREEN

114

GREEN

109

AMBER

286

April 2020 onwards:

Green = less than 200

Amber = less than 400

Red = 400 or more

12a
Attendance at The Point and Berry 

Theatres (% of capacity)
↑

GREEN

5,313

(61%)

GREEN

6,841

(82%)

GREEN

6,220

(77%)

GREEN

17,869

(120%)

Green = 50% or more

Amber = 40% or more

Red = less than 40%

12b
Participation in Arts and Culture 

activities (number, and % of target)
↑

RED

472

(19%)

RED

758

(30%)

RED

876

(35%)

GREEN

2,803

(112%)

Annual target 30,000 (2,500 per 

month)

Green = 2,500 (100%) or more 

Amber = 2,375 (95%) or more

Red = less than 2,250 (90%)

13

Visitors to Itchen Valley Country Park 

(number, and % of variable monthly 

target)

↑

GREEN

15,913 (133%)

[Target 12,000]

GREEN

29,250 (111%)

[Target 26,400]

GREEN

22,638 (94%)

[Target 24,000]

GREEN

21,888 (101%)

[Target 21,600]

Variable monthly target [based on 

annual target for 2022/23 = 

240,000]

Green = 90% or more

Amber = 70% or more

Red = less than 70%

14a
Attendance at HealthWorks sessions 

(number)
↑

RED

879

RED

880

RED

833

RED

910

Green = more than 85% (1,488)

Amber = more than 65% (1,138)

Red = 65% (1,138) or less

60



14b
Attendance at SportWorks sessions 

(number)
↑

GREEN

2,766

GREEN

3,289

GREEN

3,208

GREEN

2,956

Green = more than 85% (508)

Amber = more than 65% (388)

Red = 65% (388) or less

15
Visits to Places Leisure Eastleigh 

(number)
↑

RED

60,791

RED

55,211

RED

55,620

RED

56,373

Green = 91,166 or more

Amber = 80,000 or more

Red = less than 80,000

16
Households on housing register 

(number)
↓ 2,177 2,180 2,171 2,148

No target

[Av. 2018/19 = 1,845; 2019/20 = 

1,774; 2020/21 = 1,884]

17
Average waiting time for band 2 and 3 

properties (months)
↓

GREEN

22.2

Quarterly collated 

figure

Quarterly collated 

figure

GREEN

21.0 

Green = 36.7 or less

Red = more than 36.7

18

Households staying in emergency 

accommodation arranged by the Council 

(number)*

[Before 4/2021: Homeless cases 

prevented through intervention of 

housing advice (number)]

↓
RED

17

RED

17

AMBER

7

RED

9

Green = less than 4 households

Amber = less than 9 households

Red = 9 or more households

19a
New benefit (Council Tax or Housing 

Benefit) claims received (number)
↔ 183 150 159 127 No target (workflow indicator)

19b

Time to process new benefit (Council 

Tax Support & Housing Benefit) claims 

(days)

↓
GREEN

8.0

  GREEN  

9.0

GREEN

8.2

 GREEN

8.0

Green = less than 22 days

Amber = less than 26 days

Red = 26 days or more

20

Time to process benefit (Council Tax 

Support & Housing Benefit) change 

events (days)

↓
GREEN

4.7

GREEN

3.8

GREEN

4.6

 GREEN

3.6

Green = less than 9 days

Amber = less than 11 days

Red = 11 days or more

21

Proportion of DFGs decided within 6 

months of the application submission 

date (%, and actual numbers)*

↑

GREEN

94%

(16/17)

GREEN

86%

(6/7)

GREEN

82%

(9/11)

GREEN

91%

(10/11)

Green = 75% or more 

Amber = 60% or more

Red = less than 60%

22
Net additional homes delivered 

(number)
↑

GREEN

235

(Q4 total)

Quarterly collated 

figure

Quarterly collated 

figure

RED*

127

(Q1 total)

2022/23 thresholds*:

Green = total 182 or more net 

dwellings per quarter 

Red = less than 150 net dwellings]

[2021/22 thresholds:

Green = total 189 or more net 

dwellings per quarter 

Red = less than 100 net dwellings]

23a

Major planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%, and 

actual numbers)

↔

GREEN

100%

(3/3)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

GREEN

100%

(1/1)

GREEN

100%

0/0

Green = 60% or more

Red = less than 60%

61



23b

Minor planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%, and 

actual numbers)

↑

GREEN

79%

15/19

GREEN

100%

(10 /10)

GREEN

89%

(8/9)

GREEN

100%

12/12

Green = 65% or more

Red = less than 65%

23c

Other planning applications processed 

within statutory timeframe (%, and 

actual numbers)

↔

GREEN

100%

69/69

GREEN

100%

(37/37)

GREEN

100%

(42/42)

GREEN

97%

60/62

Green = 80% or more

Red = less than 80%

24

Planning appeals allowed as a 

proportion of all planning application 

decisions (%, and actual number of 

appeals and decisions)

↓

GREEN

0.00%

(0 of 1 

appeals/188 

decisions)

GREEN

0.00%

(1 of 1 

appeals/122 

decisions)

GREEN

1.47%

(2 of 4 

appeals/136 

decisions)

GREEN

0.00%

(0 of 1 

appeals/172 

decisions)

Green = less than 10%

Red = 10% or more

25a Customer complaints (number) ↓ 18 24 24 30 No target

25b
Corporate complaints outside SLA (%, 

and actual number of complaints)
↓

GREEN

11%

(2/18)

GREEN

0%

(0/24)

GREEN

0%

(0/26)

GREEN

0%

(0/30)

Green =  25% or less 

Red = more than 25%

26
CSC - Interactions handled (average 

number per working day)*
↔

859

[495 calls

364 other]

793

[485 calls

308 other]

776

[455 calls

321 other]

698

[425 calls

273 other]

No target (workflow indicator)

27 CSC - Calls answered vs. offered (%) ↑
GREEN

86%

AMBER

80%

RED

79%

AMBER

81%

Green = 85% or more

Amber = 80% or more

Red = less than 80%

28
CSC - Customer interactions resolved at 

first point of contact (%)
↑

GREEN

68%

GREEN

69%

GREEN

74%

GREEN

67%

Green = 60% or more

Amber = 50% or more

Red = less than 50%

29

Corporate sickness (average number of 

working days lost due to sickness 

absence per employee per year)

↔
RED

8.4

RED

8.9

RED

8.5

RED

8.6

Green = less than 7 days

Amber = less than 7.5 days

Red = 7.5 days or more

30

Staff turnover (% of people voluntarily 

resigning cf. total headcount for rolling 

12 month period)

↑

AMBER

16.7%

(Rolling 12 

months)

AMBER

17.9%

(Rolling 12 

months)

RED

18.7%

(Rolling 12 

months)

AMBER

17.1% 

(Rolling 12 

months)

Green = 15% or less

Amber = 18% or less

Red = more than 18%

31
FOI / EIR requests responded to within 

SLA (%, and actual number of requests)
↑

GREEN

97%

(60/62)

GREEN

97%

(59/61)

 GREEN

98%

(63/64) 

 GREEN

97%

(57/59) 

Green = more than 90%

Amber = more than 85%

Red = 85% or less

32 Invoices paid within 10 days (%) ↓
RED

46%

RED

37%

RED

20%

RED

41%

Green = 75% or more

Amber = 70% or more

Red = less than 70%

33a
Cases raised across all service areas 

(number)
↑

GREEN

10,334

 GREEN

8,679 

 GREEN

9,538 

 GREEN

10,266 

Green = 5,000 or more

Amber = less than 5,000

Red = less than 4,000

33b
Average case duration for cases raised 

across all service areas (working days)  
↓

GREEN 

14

 RED

16 

 RED

16 

GREEN 

9

Green = 15 days or less

Red = more than 15 days

34a
Cases raised via the Members' Hub 

(number)
↑

GREEN 

46

 GREEN 

44 

 AMBER

33 

GREEN 

63

Green = 40 or more

Amber = less than 40

Red = less than 20

62



34b
Average case duration for cases raised 

via the Members' Hub (working days)  
↓

RED

25

 RED

18 

 RED

19 

 GREEN

14 

Green = 15 days or less

Red = more than 15 days

63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

65

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

75

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

77

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Medium-Term Financial Plan
	Appendix 1 - MTFP

	7 Strategic Land in Bishopstoke
	Appendix A - Bishopstoke Land Proposal

	8 Domestic Waste and Recycling
	Domestic Waste App1
	Background
	The Service
	Bin type/colour
	Bin capacity
	Collection times
	Collection frequency
	Additional recycling
	Additional household waste
	Collection points
	Assisted collections
	Non-collected bins
	Non-collected bins from communal bin

	Contamination Incorrect items in your bins
	Replacement bins
	Bins for new developments
	Residential homes/ schools
	Other waste collections
	Charity shops
	Businesses working from home

	Animal waste in domestic bins
	Garden waste in domestic bins
	Garden waste is not permitted in the household waste or recycling waste bins and will not be collected;

	DIY waste in domestic bins
	Healthcare waste
	Bulky household  waste collections
	Alternative arrangements
	Contacts
	Household Waste and Recycling Centres (HWRCs) (Hampshire County Council-run)
	Eastleigh Borough Council, Eastleigh House,  Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN



	9 Corporate Service Performance
	Appendix. 2 for Corporate Service Performance Report

	11 Property Transaction
	Property Transaction App1
	Property Transaction App 2
	Property Transaction App 3
	Property Transaction App 4


